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SUMMARY **

Criminal Law

The panel affirmed Terrance Baker’s convictions for
Hobbs Act robbery and conspiracy to commit robbery in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) and a sentence enhancement
under U.S.S.G. § 3CI1.1, reversed his conviction for
brandishing a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
924(c)(1)(A)(i1), and remanded for a reduction of sentence
or retrial on the § 924(c) count.

One week after an armed robbery of a Sprint store, Baker
was stopped and frisked by the Los Angeles Police
Department. Although no weapons or contraband were
found on Baker, an officer removed a car key from his belt
loop without his consent and walked to a nearby parking lot
in search of the car associated with the key. Baker denied
having a car. When officers located a red Buick whose
flashing headlights responded to the key fob, Baker fled and
was apprehended a short distance away. A handgun was
recovered from the car and later introduced at Baker's trial
as the weapon used in the Sprint store robbery.

Baker contended that the evidence of the handgun
resulted from an illegal search and seizure and should have
been suppressed at trial. The panel held that even if officers
had reasonable grounds to stop Baker, the search and seizure
exceeded constitutional limits. The panel noted that the
Government is unable to explain how the officers’ post-
patdown detention and search for the car was intended to

** This summary constitutes no part of the opinion of the court. It has
been prepared by court staff for the convenience of the reader.



UNITED STATES V. BAKER 3

confirm or dispel their suspicions about a crime being
committed or to secure the safety of anyone on the
scene. The panel explained that had officers limited their
Terry stop to a brief detention and protective patdown search
of Baker, they would have had no occasion to search for a
car in an adjoining parking lot that matched the key fob
hanging from Baker’s belt loop. The Government argued
that by stating he did not have a car, Baker abandoned the
car key, eliminating his possessory interest in it and leaving
him without standing to challenge its seizure or the resulting
search of the car. Based on the totality of the circumstances,
the panel concluded that Baker did not objectively
demonstrate his intent to abandon the car key. The panel
concluded that the discovery of the handgun was the product
of illegal police conduct, whether that conduct is framed as
exceeding the permissible scope of a Terry stop or as the
warrantless seizure of the car key.

The panel wrote that the exclusionary rule required
suppression of the handgun evidence at Baker’s trial unless
an exception to the rule applies. The Government argued
that the attenuation doctrine applies based on Baker’s flight
from officers. Rejecting this argument, the panel noted that
where this court has found flight to satisfy the attenuation
doctrine, the circumstances of that flight have provided
independent grounds for discovering the challenged
evidence such that the officer's prior illegal conduct was not
the sole reason for the discovery of the evidence. The panel
explained that here the officers’ illegal seizure of the key was
the sole reason for the discovery of the car—Baker’s flight
played no role in the identification of the red Buick or its
eventual search, and therefore could not purge the taint of
the illegal conduct.
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The panel concluded that the Government demonstrated
beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would have
convicted Baker of robbery and conspiracy to commit
robbery in violation of § 1951(a) based on substantial
independent evidence establishing Baker's involvement in
the robbery. The panel concluded that there is, however,
reasonable doubt whether the jury would have convicted
Baker of brandishing a firearm in violation of § 924(c)
absent the admission of the handgun. The panel therefore
vacated Baker’s conviction on the § 924(c) count.

The panel held that because the jury was adequately
informed of the limitations of cell site location information,
the district court’s decision to admit the testimony of the
Government’s cell data mapping expert was not erroneous
under any standard of review. The panel held that the district
court did not abuse its discretion in denying admission of a
report by the Department of Commerce’s National Institute
of Standards and Technology (NIST) on guidelines for
mobile device forensics. Because none of the report’s stated
purposes describes the activities of the NIST, the panel
rejected Baker’s argument that public records exception to
the hearsay rule applies.

Baker contended that the trial testimony of Baker’s co-
defendant was insufficient to support the factual finding that
Baker threatened the co-defendant, and that the district court
therefore erred in applying an obstruction of justice
sentencing enhancement under § 3Cl1.1. Rejecting this
contention, the panel held that the district court’s
determination that Baker committed obstructive conduct
was not clearly erroneous.
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OPINION
SANCHEZ, Circuit Judge:

One week after an armed robbery of a Sprint store in Los
Angeles, Terrance Baker was stopped and frisked by the Los
Angeles Police Department (LAPD). Although no weapons
or contraband were found on Baker, an officer removed a car
key from his belt loop without his consent and walked to a
nearby parking lot in search of the car associated with the
key. Baker denied having a car. When officers located a red
Buick whose flashing headlights responded to the key fob,
Baker fled and was apprehended a short distance away. A
handgun was recovered from the car and later introduced at
Baker’s trial as the weapon used in the Sprint store robbery.
Baker was convicted of Hobbs Act robbery and conspiracy
to commit robbery in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a), and
brandishing a firearm in violation of 18 U.S.C. §
924(c)(1)(A)(i1).
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This appeal presents two principal questions: whether
officers violated Baker’s Fourth Amendment right to be free
from unreasonable searches and seizures by exceeding the
scope of their patdown search and seizing the car key, and,
if a constitutional violation occurred, whether the handgun
evidence was nevertheless admissible because Baker’s flight
from officers attenuated the discovery of the handgun. We
conclude that the handgun evidence was illegally obtained
and should have been excluded at trial, and that this error
prejudiced Baker as to the brandishing conviction but was
harmless as to the convictions for Hobbs Act robbery and
conspiracy. We reject Baker’s claims of error concerning
the district court’s evidentiary rulings at trial and its
imposition of an obstruction of justice sentencing
enhancement. Accordingly, we affirm in part, reverse in
part, and remand for further proceedings.

I.

One week after the robbery of a Sprint store in Los
Angeles, LAPD Officers Byun and Salas observed a group
of individuals congregating at the Nickerson Gardens
housing complex. Baker stood among them in front of the
complex. According to Officer Byun, officers were aware
that Baker was a gang member who did not reside at
Nickerson Gardens and Officer Byun suspected that Baker
was trespassing.

As the officers approached Baker, he lifted his shirt to
demonstrate he was unarmed. Officer Byun conducted a
patdown search of Baker that revealed no weapons or
contraband. Officer Byun then observed a car key attached
to Baker’s belt loop, which Officer Byun removed. He
directed Baker to hand over his driver’s license. Officer
Byun walked away with the car key and Baker’s driver’s
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license to an adjacent parking lot, where he paused at various
parked cars to identify which car matched the key. Officer
Salas directed Baker to walk toward the parking lot, then
commanded him to stop and put his hands behind his back
as Officer Byun continued his search for the car. Officer
Salas asked Baker if he had driven a car to the location, and
Baker responded “I don’t have a car.”

When Officer Byun pressed the car lock on the key, he
observed flashing headlights from a red Buick parked on the
street. “You don’t have a car? That’s your car right there,
it’s blinking, man,” Officer Byun said to Baker. Officer
Byun signaled to Officer Salas to handcuff Baker. Baker
took off running. After a brief foot chase during which
Officer Byun lost the car key, Baker was apprehended a
short distance away. He told police the car belonged to his
mother and that “he had run because he was scared.”

While Baker was in custody, additional officers arrived
to investigate the red Buick identified by Officer Byun.
LAPD Officer Ceballos testified at trial that when he peered
inside the car, he “was able to see underneath the front seat
what appeared to be the butt of a handgun.” Another officer
used a baton to open the car door, setting off the car alarm,
and officers recovered a handgun with a black frame and
silver slide. The gun was admitted at trial along with
surveillance video of the robbery. Government expert
witnesses testified that the gun recovered from the red Buick
was a real firearm and that its distinctive black-and-silver
color scheme matched the gun used by the robber in the
surveillance video.

At trial, the prosecution also introduced testimony by
Baker’s co-defendant Walter Collin Beatty, who described
in detail how he and Baker planned and committed the
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robbery of the Sprint store where Beatty worked. Another
store employee testified that a handgun was pointed at his
head and he was forced on the ground and held in the back
room while Beatty took iPhones from the Sprint safe. The
jury was shown Facebook photos of Baker in clothing
appearing to match the clothing worn by the robber in the
surveillance video of the robbery. Cell phone evidence
introduced against Baker included toll records showing
seven calls between Baker and Beatty on the evening of the
robbery, as well as cell site location information (“CSLI”)
admitted to show Baker’s movement toward the Sprint store
before the robbery and away from the store afterward.

The district court denied Baker’s motions to suppress the
evidence of the handgun and to exclude the testimony of
Jeffrey Bennett, the Government’s cell data mapping expert.
The district court also sustained the Government’s objection
to the introduction of'a 2014 publication by the United States
Department of Commerce, which defense counsel sought to
introduce during Bennett’s cross-examination.

The jury found Baker guilty of the three counts arising
from the Sprint store robbery. Based on Beatty’s testimony
that Baker had threatened him prior to Beatty’s trial
testimony, the district court applied an obstruction of justice
sentencing enhancement. Baker was sentenced to 125
months on each of the two Hobbs Act counts, to be served
concurrently, and a consecutive 84-month term for the §
924(c) count. He timely appealed.

I1.

Baker contends that the evidence of the handgun resulted
from an illegal search and seizure and should have been
suppressed at trial. We review the denial of a motion to
suppress de novo and the district court’s underlying factual



UNITED STATES V. BAKER 9

findings for clear error, including the finding that property
has been abandoned for purposes of the Fourth Amendment.
United States v. Magdirila, 962 F.3d 1152, 1156 (9th Cir.
2020); United States v. Stephens, 206 F.3d 914, 91617 (9th
Cir. 2000).

A.

The Fourth Amendment guarantees “[t]he right of the
people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and
effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S.
Const. amend. IV. A “search” involves governmental
infringement on “an expectation of privacy that society is
prepared to consider reasonable,” while a “seizure” of
property involves “some meaningful interference [by the
government] with an individual’s possessory interests in that
property.” United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 113
(1984). Fourth Amendment rights are personal rights that
“may not be vicariously asserted.” Alderman v. United
States, 394 U.S. 165, 174 (1969). To establish standing to
challenge governmental intrusions under the Fourth
Amendment, an individual must demonstrate their
reasonable expectation of privacy in a place searched, or
meaningful interference with their possessory interest in
property seized. See United States v. Singleton, 987 F.2d
1444, 1447 (9th Cir. 1993) (citing United States v. Salvucci,
448 U.S. 83, 95 (1980)); Lavan v. City of Los Angeles, 693
F.3d 1022, 1027-29 (9th Cir. 2012).! “Because warrantless
searches or seizures of abandoned property do not violate the

! The question of who may challenge a given instance of conduct under
the Fourth Amendment has been described both as a question of
“standing” and as “within the purview of substantive Fourth Amendment
law.” See United States v. $40,955.00 in U.S. Currency, 554 F.3d 752,
756 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 140 (1978)).
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[Flourth [A]mendment, persons who voluntarily abandon
property lack standing to complain of its search or seizure.”
United States v. Nordling, 804 F.2d 1466, 1469 (9th Cir.
1986).

We begin with the bedrock principle that warrantless
searches and seizures “are per se unreasonable under the
Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically
established and well delineated exceptions.” Minnesota v.
Dickerson, 508 U.S. 366, 372 (1993) (quoting Thompson v.
Louisiana, 469 U.S. 17, 19-20 (1984)). One of these
exceptions is the Terry stop, which permits an officer with
reasonable suspicion that an individual is engaged in a crime
to briefly detain the individual and make ‘“‘reasonable
inquiries’ aimed at confirming or dispelling [the officer’s]
suspicions.” Dickerson, 508 U.S. at 373 (quoting Terry v.
Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968)). If the officer has reasonable
suspicion that the detained individual is “armed and
presently dangerous,” the officer may conduct a frisk, a
protective patdown search of the individual for weapons.
Terry,392 U.S. at 30.

The Government contends that the stop-and-frisk was
lawful because it was supported by the officers’ reasonable
suspicion that Baker was trespassing in front of the
Nickerson Gardens housing complex. Baker disputes that
the officers had reasonable grounds to initiate a stop-and-
frisk and argues that he was effectively arrested without
probable cause. We need not resolve this dispute because
even if officers had reasonable grounds to stop Baker, the
search and seizure conducted in this case exceeded
constitutional limits.

A Terry stop must be “confined in scope” to a “carefully
limited search of the outer clothing ... in an attempt to
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discover weapons.” Id. at 29, 30. If weapons are discovered,
they “may properly be introduced in evidence against the
person from whom they were taken.” Id. at 31. Police
officers may also seize “nonthreatening contraband detected
during a protective patdown search ... so long as the
officers’ search stays within the bounds marked by Terry.”
Dickerson, 508 U.S. at 373. As the Government
acknowledges, Baker has standing to challenge the legality
of the Terry stop-and-frisk initiated against him, including
whether officers exceeded the permissible scope of the stop.
It is well established that a Terry stop is a seizure of an
individual and a frisk is a search of the individual’s person
within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. See Terry,
392 U.S. at 16-20. Assuming officers reasonably suspected
that Baker was trespassing and armed, they were authorized
to briefly detain him to ask questions related to trespassing
and to pat him down for weapons. But after officers
confirmed that Baker did not possess weapons or
contraband, they turned to other purposes. Officer Byun
removed a key visibly hanging from Baker’s belt loop and
searched for a car that corresponded to it. Officers continued
to detain Baker, not for the purpose of inquiring about
trespass, but to ask him questions about whether he owned a
car. Officer Byun made no claim that he suspected the car
key was a weapon or contraband. See Dickerson, 508 U.S.
at 377-78.

The Government is unable to explain how the officers’
post-patdown detention and search for the car was intended
to confirm or dispel their suspicions about a crime being
committed or to secure the safety of anyone on the scene.
Baker has shown that the handgun was discovered as a result
of police conduct that violated his Fourth Amendment rights.
Id. at 373; Terry, 392 U.S. at 30-31. Had officers limited



12 UNITED STATES V. BAKER

their Terry stop to a brief detention and protective patdown
search of Baker, they would have had no occasion to search
for a car in an adjoining parking lot that matched the key fob
hanging from Baker’s belt loop.

Our holding in United States v. Brown, 996 F.3d 998 (9th
Cir. 2021), is instructive. We considered whether an officer
conducting a Terry stop could lawfully reach into the
detainee’s pocket as the initial means of conducting a
patdown search. Id. at 1009. Noting that the Government
cited no case from the Supreme Court upholding such a
search, we held that even if the officer “was authorized to
conduct a protective frisk, his search of [the defendant’s]
right pocket exceeded what Terry and its progeny allow.” Id.
at 1008. Here, the Government has similarly failed to
identify any caselaw showing that the removal of a key from
a defendant’s belt loop qualifies as part of a lawful Terry
frisk. Where a “protective search goes beyond what is
necessary to determine if the suspect is armed, it is no longer
valid under Terry and its fruits will be suppressed.”
Dickerson, 508 U.S. at 373 (citing Sibron v. New York, 392
U.S. 40, 65-66 (1968)).

The Government conceded at oral argument that the
officers should not have seized the key from Baker during
the Terry stop. However, the Government argues that by
stating he did not have a car, Baker abandoned the car key,
eliminating his possessory interest in it and leaving him
without standing to challenge its seizure or the resulting
search of the car.2 See Nordling, 804 F.2d at 1469. The

2 In addition to advising police that the red Buick belonged to his mother,
Baker did not assert a possessory or ownership interest in the car after
his arrest or in his suppression motion. The Government speculates that
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district court accepted the premise that Baker lacked
standing to challenge seizure of the key “because of his
statements that he did not have a possessory or any interest
in the car prior to the seizure.”

The Government’s standing argument fails to persuade
because Baker’s statements concerning the car did not
constitute abandonment of a possessory interest in the key
hanging from his belt. Because abandonment is “a question
of intent,” we must consider the totality of the circumstances
to determine whether an individual, by their words, actions,
or other objective circumstances, so relinquished their
interest in the property that they no longer retain a reasonable
expectation of privacy in it at the time of its search or seizure.
Id.; Lavan, 693 F.3d at 1027-28. Our caselaw recognizes
two important factors in this inquiry: the denial of ownership
and the physical relinquishment of the property. Nordling,
804 F.2d at 1469; see also United States v. Lopez-Cruz, 730
F3d 803, 809 (9th Cir. 2013) (“[N]one of our
‘abandonment’ cases has held that mere disavowal of
ownership, without more, constitutes abandonment of a
person’s reasonable expectation of privacy in that

property.”).
Based on the totality of the circumstances, we conclude
that Baker did not objectively demonstrate his intent to

abandon the car key. Baker never disclaimed any ownership
or possessory interest in the key itself, nor did he voluntarily

Baker “could have taken the car and its key without his mother’s
permission, in which case he would not have standing to object to the
seizure of the key,” but no evidence in the record supports this
conjecture.
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relinquish possession or control over the key.? Instead,
Officer Byun removed the key from Baker’s belt loop
without his consent. That the key was hanging from Baker’s
belt manifests an objective intent to maintain possession of
it. According to the Government, Baker’s assertion that he
had no car operated to deny any ownership interest in the car
key. The Government identifies no precedent in support of
the proposition that a person abandons an item in his
possession by stating he does not own a different, related
item. Even if such a claim had a basis in law, an individual
does not relinquish a possessory interest in an item merely
by stating he does not own the item. See Lopez-Cruz, 730
F.3d at 808—09 (concluding the defendant did not abandon
cell phones in his possession when he told police the phones
belonged to a friend because the defendant “did not disclaim
use of them or otherwise disassociate himself from them”).
No evidence in the record suggests that Baker disassociated
himself from the car key even if the key belonged to
someone else.

The discovery of the handgun was the product of illegal
police conduct, whether that conduct is framed as exceeding
the permissible scope of a Terry stop or as the warrantless
seizure of the car key. Where evidence is obtained from an
unlawful search or seizure, the exclusionary rule renders
inadmissible both “primary evidence obtained as a direct
result of an illegal search or seizure” and “evidence later

3 These circumstances differ from examples in which abandonment was
found where the defendant discarded property in a hotel wastebin before
checking out, Abel v. United States, 362 U.S. 217, 241 (1960), threw
property out of a moving vehicle, United States v. McLaughlin, 525 F.2d
517, 519-20 (9th Cir. 1975), released control over it to a third party,
United States v. Mendia, 731 F.2d 1412, 1414 (9th Cir. 1984), or
deliberately left it on an airplane, Nordling, 804 F.2d at 1469-70.
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discovered and found to be derivative of an illegality,”
known as “fruit of the poisonous tree.” Utah v. Strieff, 579
U.S. 232, 237 (2016) (quoting Segura v. United States, 468
U.S. 796, 804 (1984)); Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S.
471,488 (1963). The exclusionary rule required suppression
of the handgun evidence at Baker’s trial unless an exception
to the rule applies. Strieff, 579 U.S. at 237-38. We address
next the Government’s contention that the handgun evidence
was admissible under the attenuation doctrine based on
Baker’s flight from officers.

B.

The Supreme Court has adopted several exceptions to the
exclusionary rule, observing that the “significant costs” of
excluding evidence from a criminal trial “have led us to
deem it applicable only where its deterrence benefits
outweigh its substantial social costs.” Id. at 237 (quoting
Hudson v. Michigan, 547 U.S. 586, 591 (2006)) (internal
quotation marks and ellipsis omitted). The exception
relevant to this case is the attenuation doctrine. /d. at 238.

Under the attenuation doctrine, “[e]vidence is admissible
when the connection between unconstitutional police
conduct and the evidence is remote or has been interrupted
by some intervening circumstance, so that ‘the interest
protected by the constitutional guarantee that has been
violated would not be served by suppression of the evidence
obtained.”” Id. (quoting Hudson, 547 U.S. at 593). Courts
determining whether attenuation applies consider the three
factors set forth in Brown v. Illinois, 422 U.S. 590, 603-04
(1975): first, the “temporal proximity” between the conduct
and the discovery of the evidence; second, the “presence of
intervening circumstances”; and third, “the purpose and
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flagrancy of the official misconduct.” The Government
bears the burden of demonstrating admissibility. /d. at 604.

In Utah v. Strieff, for example, an officer unlawfully
stopped the defendant and discovered during the detention
that the defendant had an outstanding arrest warrant. 579
U.S. at 235, 240. The officer arrested the defendant and
conducted a search incident to arrest that led to the discovery
of drug-related evidence, the admission of which the
defendant challenged. Id. at 235-36. Applying the Brown
factors, the Court held that the discovery of the evidence
“only minutes after the illegal stop” favored suppression. /d.
at 239-40. However, the valid arrest warrant—one that
predated and was “entirely unconnected” to the illegal
stop—constituted an intervening circumstance that favored
a finding of attenuation. /d. at 240. The Court reasoned that
the arrest warrant obligated the officer to arrest the defendant
and the arrest itself established the officer’s authority to
search the defendant’s person. Id. at 240-41. As to the third
factor, the officer’s decision to initiate the stop rested on
“good-faith mistakes” rather than a purposeful or flagrant
disregard for the law. Id. at 241. The Court thus deemed the
drug-related evidence admissible because “the unlawful stop
was sufficiently attenuated by the pre-existing arrest
warrant.” Id. at 242.

Here, the first and third Brown factors favor suppression
of the evidence. See Brown, 422 U.S. at 603—-604. The
parties agree that very little time elapsed between the seizure
of the key and the discovery of the gun in the car. And while
we do not view the officers as acting with flagrant disregard
for the law, we also cannot conclude that they acted on a
reasonable but mistaken belief that Baker had consented to
their actions. See, e.g., Strieff, 579 U.S. at 241-42
(concluding exclusion of evidence would not serve deterrent
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purpose where officer’s detention arose out of “good-faith
mistakes™); United States v. Boone, 62 F.3d 323, 325 (10th
Cir. 1995) (officer’s “mistaken belief” that the defendant had
consented to a search did not qualify as “flagrant
misconduct”). No reasonable interpretation of the record
suggests that Baker consented to, or even was equivocal
about, the officers taking the car key off his belt. The record
clearly demonstrates that Officer Byun removed the car key
from Baker’s belt loop during the patdown without asking
for permission or consent. We have held that suppression is
favored where an officer violates the law “with the purpose
of extracting evidence against the defendant.” United States
v. Washington, 387 F.3d 1060, 1075 (9th Cir. 2004). The
officers’ conduct following the patdown of Baker was
plainly “investigatory,” an “expedition for evidence in the
hope that something might turn up.” See Brown, 422 U.S. at
605. The record contains no other explanation for their
actions, and the Government has identified none.

The Government instead emphasizes the second Brown
factor, arguing that Baker’s flight as officers attempted to
handcuff him was an intervening circumstance that
attenuated the taint of any illegal misconduct. Citing our
decisions in United States v. Garcia, 516 F.2d 318, 319-20
(9th Cir. 1975), and United States v. McClendon, 713 F.3d
1211, 1214 (9th Cir. 2013), the Government urges that
“flight, on its own, triggers attenuation.” The district court
relied on the same cases to conclude Baker’s flight was an
intervening circumstance that attenuated the connection
between the officers’ conduct and the discovery of the gun.
The district court found “there was reasonable suspicion to
detain [Baker] which ripened [into] probable cause when he
fled, and that permitted the officers to observe the gun in the
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car.” These arguments misapprehend the attenuation
doctrine.

Baker’s flight from police does not qualify as an
intervening circumstance because the red Buick was
discovered as a consequence of the officers’ misconduct
before Baker fled from officers. The relevant inquiry for
attenuation is not whether illegal police conduct was “part of
a series of facts” culminating in the discovery of challenged
evidence, but whether the evidence was obtained “by
exploitation of that illegality or instead by means sufficiently
distinguishable to be purged of the primary taint.” Garcia,
516 F.2d at 319 (quoting Wong Sun, 371 U.S. at 488). The
officers’ means of discovering the handgun cannot be
distinguished from their illegal conduct: they discovered the
handgun by seizing the car key from Baker, using the key to
identify the Buick parked nearby, and then searching that
Buick, in clear causal succession. See United States v.
Chamberlin, 644 F.2d 1262, 1269 (9th Cir. 1980) (evidence
is excludable where officers’ “illegal activity tends to
significantly direct the investigation to the evidence in
question”).

We have never held that a defendant's flight from law
enforcement always attenuates the taint of an officer’s prior
illegal conduct regardless of the circumstances. Rather,
where we have found flight to satisfy the attenuation
doctrine, the circumstances of that flight have provided
independent grounds for discovering the challenged
evidence such that the officer's prior illegal conduct was not
the sole reason for the discovery of the evidence. In Garcia,
an officer directed a driver to stop at a checkpoint. 516 F.2d
at 319. Instead of complying, the driver sped off. Id.
Following a high-speed chase, officers stopped the driver
and arrested him, finding contraband in the car in a search



UNITED STATES V. BAKER 19

incident to his arrest. /d. We affirmed the denial of the
driver’s motion to suppress, concluding that even if the
initial checkpoint stop had been illegal, the driver’s flight
and ensuing high-speed chase supplied officers with the
requisite “probable cause to arrest [the driver] and then to
search his car.” Id. at 320.

The flight in Garcia, along with other untainted evidence
about the defendant’s suspicious behavior, gave the officers
a basis independent from the illegal checkpoint stop to
effectuate an arrest and search the defendant’s car. /d. In
other words, the illegal stop in Garcia proved to be no more
than “part of a series of facts” leading up to the discovery of
contraband in the car. Id. Here, however, the officers’
illegal seizure of the key was the sole reason for the
discovery of the car. Baker’s flight played no role in the
identification of the red Buick or its eventual search and
therefore could not purge the taint of the prior illegal
conduct.* The car was located by officers before Baker fled.
It was after Baker was taken into custody that a different
officer observed what appeared to be the butt of a handgun
protruding from underneath the front car seat. Because the
key had been lost during the foot pursuit, officers opened the
car with a baton and recovered the handgun. To the extent
the district court found that Baker’s flight gave officers
grounds to identify the Buick or to search it, it is unsupported
by the record.

4 Garcia does not suggest that if the arrestee had been on foot, his flight
would have supplied officers with justification to search for evidence
against him in a car—or, for that matter, in any place other than the
location of his arrest. See Preston v. United States, 376 U.S. 364, 367
(1964) (“Once an accused is under arrest and in custody, then a search
made at another place, without a warrant, is simply not incident to the
arrest.”).
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For similar reasons, McClendon does not support the
Government’s position. There, officers found a backpack in
a parked car belonging to the defendant and searched it,
discovering a firearm and ammunition. 713 F.3d at 1213.
Officers then located a man matching McClendon’s
description and ordered him to stop. Id. McClendon
continued walking away and discarded an object from his
waistband. /d. at 1213-14. Police arrested McClendon and
found a loaded handgun a few feet away. Id. at 1214. We
affirmed the denial of a motion to suppress the handgun
evidence. /d. at 1218. Assuming the search of the backpack
had been illegal, we concluded the search was not the but-
for cause of the discovery of the handgun because police
would have searched for McClendon for other reasons. /d.
at 1217-18. Even if police were motivated to search for
McClendon based on the illegal search of the backpack, we
also concluded that McClendon’s decision to flee was an
intervening event that purged the taint from the original
search. Id. at 1218 (citing Garcia, 516 F.2d at 319-20).
Stated another way, even if the backpack search was a but-
for cause of the officers’ discovery of the handgun, the flight
during which McClendon discarded the gun moments before
his arrest interrupted the chain of eve